Public Document Pack

CHESTERFIELD
A BOROUGH COUNCIL

Please ask for Brian Offiler
Direct Line: 01246 345229
Email committee.services@chesterfield.gov.uk

The Chair and Members of Appeals
and Requlatory Committee

2 October 2018
Dear Councillor,

Please attend a meeting of the APPEALS AND REGULATORY
COMMITTEE to be held on WEDNESDAY, 10 OCTOBER 2018 at 10.00 am in
Committee Room 1, Town Hall, Chesterfield, S40 1LP, the agenda for which is
set out below.

AGENDA

Part 1 (Public Information)

1. Declarations of Members' and Officers' Interests relating to items on the
agenda

2.  Apologies for Absence

3. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy - Policy
Amendments (A000) (Pages 3 - 50)

4.  Taxi Consultative Committee Annual Report 2017/18 (Pages 51 - 58)

Yours sincerely,
Local Government and Regulatory Law Manager and Monitoring Officer

Chesterfield Borough Council, Town Hall, Rose Hill, Chesterfield S40 1LP
Telephone: 01246 345 345, Text: 07960 910 264, Email: info@chesterfield.gov.uk

www.chesterfield.gov.uk






Agenda Iltem 3

For publication

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy -
Policy Amendments (A000)

Meeting: Appeals and Regulatory Committee
Date: 10 October 2018
Cabinet portfolio: Health and Wellbeing

Report by: Licensing Manager

For publication

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To propose amendments to the Hackney Carriage and Private
Hire Licensing Policy.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION

2.1 The policy amendments are approved for a suitable period of
consultation.

3.0 REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 The amendments will enhance public safety.

CHESTERFIELD
l BOROUGH COUNCIL

Page 3



4.0
4.1

4.2

4.3

BACKGROUND

Policy amendments

National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN) database of refusals and
revocations.

NAFN has recently launched a national database of individuals
who have been refused a taxi licence or had their licence
revoked. The aim is to enable licensing authorities to share
information that will assist in determining an application for a
taxi drivers’ licence. The council is a member of NAFN, and has
been so for a number of years.

The database will hold minimal information on the person
concerned but further information as to the circumstances of
the refusal or revocation may be shared later by the various
authorities in line with agreed protocols.

The database will include both historic and new revocations
and refusals, it is estimated we have around 25 historic cases
for which inclusion can be justified.

The council's legal officer and information assurance manager
have approved the legal agreements that accompany
membership.

Consideration of Convictions

The Institute of Licensing (IOL) has published a document
entitled ‘Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants
and licensees in the hackney and private hire trades’, a copy of
which is attached at appendix 1. The guidance was developed
in partnership with the Local Government Association, ‘Lawyers
in Local Government’ and the National Association of Licensing
and Enforcement Officers and was subject to widespread
consultation. The document captures a wide range of
behaviours within the same sanction; for example an exclusion
of 10 years is recommended for anyone convicted of a crime of
violence but does not distinguish between a common assault

Page 4



4.4

4.5

that causes no injury or grievous bodily harm with intent that
may result in serious injury.

This council matches, or exceeds, many of the provisions within
the document, with the exception of the period for which an
application will be refused following conviction. Current policy
states that the period of consideration commences on the date
of conviction, in the IOL document it starts on the completion
of any sentence imposed. It is proposed that we change our
period to that suggested by the IOL.

For information, another two reports have recently been
published with the aim of establishing minimum standards for
taxi applicants. The first one is from a Department for
Transport task and finish group on Taxi and Private Hire
Regulation. The report makes many recommendations,
including an urgent review of the relevant laws and the
establishment of national minimum standards to taxi
applications. The report now passes to the secretary of state to
consider new legislation. The document can be viewed here.

The second is from Bolsover/NEDDC and is the result of many
months of discussion between Derbyshire councils to establish
a set of minimum standards for taxi applicants. This document
has been somewhat superseded by the one from the IOL and is
not, therefore, proposed for adoption. A copy is attached at
appendix 2.

Knowledge tests

Officers are in the process of changing the administration of
knowledge tests from a paper-based system to a computer
programme using multiple choice options. The new system wiill
improve access for applicants and reduce costs for both
applicants and the council. A supplier has been identified
through the procurement process and the software is being
developed; once complete both written and driven tests will be
replaced by one test administered at the licensing desk in the
customer service centre. The cost for applicants will be reduced

Page 5


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/742470/taxi-and-phv-working-group-report.pdf

4.6

4.7

4.8

by half and there will be more spaces available (25 per week as
against 8 at the moment).

Approval is sought to amend the policy as and when the system
goes live, anticipated to be towards the end of this year.

Payment for initial application

An increasing number of applicants are exercising their right to
plead their case before the committee when officers have
refused their application due to previous convictions. In those
circumstances officers research and prepare a report that is
considered by members who make a determination, at no cost
to the applicant. It is estimated that, on average, this process
costs the council £66.00.

It is proposed to charge all applicants for a taxi licence an initial
fee of £66.00; if the application is successful that amount is
deducted from the rest of the £205 fee (for a three year
licence). If the application is not granted, no refund will be
given.

Inform the council of which operator a private hire driver is
working for (par 3.4)

Officers have encountered difficulties in recent months from
private hire drivers who have not updated the council they
have changed operators, making investigations problematic.

It is proposed that before driving a private hire vehicle the
driver must notify the council of the private hire operator they
are to work with. Failure to comply would attract an award of 3
penalty points.

Code of Conduct

Paragraph 3.23 is amended to reflect recent advice from the
government’s equality office (appendix 3). The guidance states
that while codes for men and women do not have to be
identical, the standards imposed should be equivalent. An
example of the revised wording is that instead of prohibiting

Page 6



4.9

5.0

5.1

6.0

6.1

7.0

7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

‘short skirts' the policy now states ‘shorts and skirts must be at
least knee-length'.

Financial reference

The assistant director Health and Wellbeing approved the
replacement of financial references with a self-declaration form
as banks and financial institutions were refusing to issue them.
This was completed under delegated authority in April of this
year but needs to be endorsed by the committee.

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT

A full equalities impact assessment has not been completed
but the amendments will have a positive impact on equalities.

RISK MANAGEMENT

A full risk management assessment has not been completed
but these measures will all enhance public safety.

RECOMMENDATION

The policy amendments are approved for a suitable period of
consultation, to clarify they are:

Adoption of the NAFN database of refusals and revocations.

When considering previous convictions in section 4, appendix 1,
the period of consideration will commence from the completion
of any sentence imposed, not the date of conviction.

Knowledge tests to be administered by a computerised system
when appropriate.

Page 7



7.5

7.6

7.7

7.8

Applicants for a taxi drivers licence to pay an initial fee to cover
the process up to the point their application is determined; the
fee to be non-refundable.

Drivers of private hire vehicles to notify the council of which
operator they are working for before they drive the vehicle.

The code of conduct is amended with regard to the wording of
the dress code.

The requirement for a financial reference is replaced by a self-
declaration as to a person’s finances.

More information about this report is available from Trevor Durham - Licensing

Manager on 01246 345203 or trevor.durham@chesterfield.gov.uk

Page 8


mailto:trevor.durham@chesterfield.gov.uk

Guidance on determining the
suitability of applicants and
licensees in the hackney and

private hire trades

April 2018

Bl Institute of Licensing

Produced by the Institute of Licensing in partnership with:

[]LLG Local {8

e Lawyers in Local Gowerniment A I | Government

Association

Page 9




Kl Institute of Licensing

Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private
hire trades

Contents
FOTEWOIT ...ttt sttt b et e s b e bes s ebesesbesessersabereresberesesreseobennan 2
10T T = I oY o Te [ ¥ ot o VOO OR RO TUR RO 3
Chapter 2: Offenders and Offending - AN OVEIVIEW ......cvecveiiriiinreirieire et eess sttt s sesanesneenes 5
RiSK OF r@-OFFENUING: c.eoeieieert ettt e st e b e b et e teetb et e sbesbeeneeeaeeaeenean 7
Chapter 3: Taxi’ LICENSING OVEIVIEW .....cuiiciiiie ettt et er s et este v e re e sbesbssrssrasnbessressressnesenes 9
TAXI DIIVEIS ottt ettt ettt et e s a b e e bt e e st e e sb e e e eaessnaesssa st eassnessrreessseesnseeensens 9
PrIVAte HIF® OPEIATOrS coii ittt cse e et e e e st s b e e e be s e s eesraaeessabbesesetbessesstsseeseesnberessnnes 13
RVZ= el o Eol o e e T =1 o O U USROS 15
Chapter 4: GUIdance ON DELErMINATION .uivueieieiiirrereeiesesesesaeestesseste e st erseraessesessessessessetssseseereetesnensons 17
Pre-application FEQUITEMENTS ..ottt s e s st e s e s ts s s tbsstt s saessatssassesaaeesreesne 17
VENICIES: et ettt et ete e te b b ebe b et et eneereere et e ensenseneetereteneanes 17
DIV IS, Litiitiie ettt ettt et te st e sbe e st st e bt et e st e s et e e te e te ekt e bt e saeea b e eate et tanteenteete e ereeeaeenreesrnennneanrs 18
10] oT] = 1 o] £ U TR P PR OTTURPSURSRRURSR 18
DIFIVRES 1ttt ittt sttt sttt e st e st e st e s ate st e s aee st e e ate e beesaesaeeesbeeeaeeaaeeatesaereeereesbaesresereebeeares 20
Crimes resUltiNg i AEATN .ooc.i i rr et er s et eeresere s sbsssaas s sreaseeerees 21
EXPIOMEALION 1ot ie ettt ettt et e et et et e e et e e be e bttt e s ts e s tssatesatesmeesee s eaeeeeeseeeeeeeeaneene 21
Offences INVOIVING VIOIENCE ..c..ooiviiiieeere ettt ettt sa e s aeone e sreens 21
POSSESSION OF @ WEBPON ...eiiiiviierii ettt ettt ettt erreaeesaeste s s ensestestssaesnenseseteeaaesrnenean 21
Sex and INAECENCY OFFENCES ...ocviiiiiicieec ettt et e ee et e e eareeas et eeneseeaes 21
DISNONESTY ..o ettt ettt et et et e et et e et et et et eteeeeeeeeetetare st eneenteasans 22
DIFUES ottt ettt sttt sttt et e st e st e s bae e e e e abe e be e tsebeereeareereeebeant s et eomneesaeenneeaneenaneeaes 22
DISCHMINATION 1oiiiiiiiiiii ettt sttt e et et eteeteeas e tesssenteseeesesneensenestsssssseosesnnennens 22
MOTOIING CONVICTIONS eutirerieeieiiiesiee ittt et e eete ettt e e e et s sttt st e eee e eeeere e e eeeaeeaseseeeseteeesreesnesnesans 22

Drink driving/driving under the influence of drugs/using a hand-held telephone or hand held device

WHIIST AFTVING 1ttt ettt sttt et ettt e e see e e eeeeeeseses e sesessesesessesesans 22
Other MOLOING OFfENCES ...ttt ettt e et et et et et e eees e et e e s 23
Hackney carriage and private hire OffENCES .......civvveviriecei et e oo e et ee e 23
Vehicle USE OffENCES ..ottt et es 23
Private HIre OP@rators .ou.cciiiiiecrereiesee sttt ettt eeteee et s e eeee e e s eseeeesessesreseseseeseseneas 23
VERICIE PIOPIIELONS. ......victiiiieieieieieir ettt ettt ettt et et eeee et e e e e e e e e s e e e st et eas 24
ACKNOWIBAGEMENES ..ottt ettt ettt et et s s e e e s et e s e s s ees e s eses e e sseeseseons 25
Page 10 1lPage

Guidance on Suitability 260418



Licensing

Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private
hire trades

Foreword

The function of licensing is the protection of the public. A member of the public stepping into a motor
vehicle driven by a stranger must be able to trust the driver. Are they honest? Are they competent? Are
they safe? Are they trustworthy? When we transact with others, we usually have time and opportunity
to make such assessments. When we transact with taxi drivers, we don’t. Therefore, we must, and do,
rely on the licence as the warranty of the driver’s safety and suitability for the task at hand.

It follows that a licensing authority has an onerous responsibility. In making decisions regarding grant and
renewal of licences it is, in effect, holding out the licensee as someone who can be trusted to convey the
passenger from A to B in safety. That passenger may be you, or your elderly mother, or your teenage
daughter, or a person who has had too much to drink, or who is vuinerable for a whole host of other
reasons.

Everybody working in this field should acquaint themselves with the facts of the Rotherham case, which
stands as a stark testament to what can happen when licensing performs its safeguarding role
inadequately. But the extremity of that appalling story should not distract us from the job of protecting
the public from more mundane incompetence, carelessness or dishonesty. The standards of safety and
suitability do not have to be set as a base minimum. To the contrary, they may be set high, to give the
public the assurance it requires when using a taxi service. It is good to know that one’s driver is not a
felon. It is better to know that he or she is a dedicated professional.

Crucially, this is not a field in which the licensing authority has to strike a fair balance between the driver’s
right to work and the public’s right to protection. The public are entitled to be protected, full stop. That
means that the licensing authority is entitled and bound to treat the safety of the public as the paramount
consideration. Itis, after all, the point of the exercise.

Therefore, this guidance is to be welcomed. It rightly emphasises that any circumstance relating to the
licensee is potentially relevant, provided of course that it is relevant to their safety and suitability to hold
a licence. It provides useful and authoritative guidelines to licensing authorities as to how they ought to
approach their important task of making determinations about the safety and suitability of drivers and
operators.

While, of course, licensing is a local function, it seems absurd that precisely the same conduct might result
in a short period without a licence in one district, and a much longer period in a neighbouring district. If
a driver is suitable in district A, they are surely suitable in district B, and vice versa. If, as is hoped, this
guidance becomes widely adopted, this will result in a degree of national uniformity, which serves the
public interest in consistency, certainty and confidence in the system of licensing. Adherence to the
guidance may also provide protection to licensing authorities on appeal.

The guidance is therefore commended to licensing authorities. It is hoped that, in due course, it will sit
at the elbow of every councillor and officer working in taxi licensing.

Philip Kolvin QC
Cornerstone Barristers

April 2018

2|Page
Guidance on Suitability E’ﬁg&&ll



il, Institute of Licensing

Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private

hire trades

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

This guidance has been produced by the Institute of Licensing working in partnership with
the Local Government Association (LGA), Lawyers in Local Government (LLG) and the National
Association of Licensing and Enforcement Officers (NALEO), following widespread
consultation. We are grateful to all three organisations for their contributions. This guidance
is formally endorsed by all of those organisations.

The overriding aim of any Licensing Authority when carrying out its functions relating to the
licensing of Hackney or Private Hire Drivers, Vehicle Proprietors and Operators, must be the
protection of the public and others who use (or can be affected by) Hackney Carriage and
Private Hire services.

The relevant legislation provides that any person must satisfy the authority that they are a fit
and proper person to hold a licence and that is a test to be applied after any applicant has
gained any reasonably required qualifications®. It is the final part of the process of an
application when the decision is made, whether by a committee, sub-committee or an officer
under a Scheme of Delegation. It involves a detailed examination of their entire character in
order to make a judgment as to their fitness and propriety.

If a licence holder falls short of the fit and proper standard at any time, the licence should be
revoked or not renewed on application to do so.

There is no recent Statutory or Ministerial guidance as to how such decisions should be
approached or what matters are relevant or material to a decision. This guidance
complements the LGA’s Taxi and Private Hire Licensing Councillor’s Handbook and any.
forthcoming Government guidance. Local authorities should also be aware of the
forthcoming National Anti Fraud Network database on refusals and revocations of hackney
carriage and private hire licences.

This document is intended to provide guidance on determining suitability, taking into account
the character of the applicant or licensee. It can then be used by local authorities as a basis
for their own policies: in particular it considers how regard should be had to the antecedent
history of the applicant or licence holder and its relevance to their ‘fitness and propriety’ or
‘character’. As with any guidance it need not be slavishly followed but it provides a starting
or reference point from which decisions can be made taking into account the particular merits
of each case.

A licensing authority policy can take a 'bright line approach' and say “never” in a policy, but
it remains a policy, and as such does not amount to any fetter on the discretion of the

! Except vehicle proprietors. In those cases there is no “fit and proper” requirement, but the authority has an absolute
discretion over granting a licence.

Page 12 3|Page

Guidance on Suitability 260418



Kl Institute of Licensing

Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private

1.8

1.9

1.10

1.11

hire trades

authority. Each case will always be considered on its merits having regard to the policy, and
the licensing authority can depart from the policy where it considers it appropriate to do
so. This will normally happen where the licensing authority considers that there are
exceptional circumstances which warrant a different decision. This approach was endorsed
by the High Court in R (on the application of Nicholds) v Security Industry Authority?.

In Chapter 2 this Guidance explores the current thinking behind an individual’s tendencies to
reoffend. It is clear that this is not an exact science and that there is no meaningful and
precise statistical evidence that can assist in the setting of policy. Given the important
function of licensing to protect the public, any bar should be set at the highest level which is
reasonable, albeit subject to the exercise of discretion as is set out in paragraph 1.7 and
Chapters 3 and 4.

This Guidance contains no detailed list of offences. All offences are allocated to a general
category such as ‘dishonesty’ or ‘drugs’. This prevents it being argued that a specific offence
is not covered by the Policy as it ‘is not on the list” and also prevents arguments that a firearm
is more serious than a knife and should lead to differentiation. In each case, appropriate
weight should be given to the evidence provided.

This Guidance cannot have the force of legislation, new or amended; the need for which is
both abundantly clear to, and fully supported by the Institute and the other organisations
working with it. It is intended to help local authorities achieve greater consistency so that
applicants are less able to shop between authorities. It is acknowledged that this cannot be
fully achieved without the imposition of national minimum standards.

In preparing this document the Institute’s Working Party has consulted with and considered
the issues from all perspectives including, Councillors, Licensing Officers, Lawyers, the
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Trades, Academics, the Probation Service and the Police.

2 [2007] 1 WLR 2067

4| Page

Guidance on Suitability @ﬂg&&l?)



Bl (nstitute of Licensing

Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private

hire trades

Chapter 2: Offenders and Offending - An Overview

2.1

2.2

2.3

24

2.5

The aim of local authority licensing of the taxi and PHV trades is to protect the public’.3 With
this in mind, Public Protection must be at the forefront of the decision maker’'s mind when
determining whether an individual is considered a “fit and proper person” to hold a licence.

This section aims to provide a brief overview of public protection, how to determine risk and
factors to be considered when an applicant seeks to demonstrate a change in their offending
behaviour.

The licensing process places a duty on the local authority to protect the public. Given the
nature of the role, it is paramount that those seeking a living in the trades meet the required
standards. As the previous offending behaviour can be considered as a predictor in
determining future behaviour as well as culpability, it is essential that the decision maker
considers all relevant factors including previous convictions, cautions and complaints and
the time elapsed since these were committed.

There has been extensive research into the reasons behind why some individuals commit
crimes, why some learn from their mistakes and stop offending whilst others find themselves
in a cycle of repeat offending. Several theories have evolved over many years offering
insight into the reasons behind offending behaviour. One common theme is that no two
crimes are the same and that risk cannot be eliminated, or the future predicted. What can
be done, is to examine each case on its individual merits, look at the risks involved along with
any change in circumstances since any offences were committed to assist in making the
decision.

A key factor when considering an application from an individual with any convictions,
cautions or complaints recorded is Public Protection. This includes assessing the risk of re-
offending and harm®. Risk assessment tools are regularly employed by those who are
responsible for managing individuals who have committed offences. Local Authorities are
not always privy to this information so it is important when they are making decisions around

suitability that they have an understanding of offending behaviour and risk of re-offending
in generic terms.

3 DfT “Taxi and Private Hire Licensing — Best Practice Guide” para 8

4 Kemshall, H. (2008). Understanding the Management of High Risk Offenders (Crime and Justice). Open University Press

Guidance on Suitability 260418

Page 14 >lPage



1 Licensing

Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private
hire trades

2.6 Flaud®> noted that risk is in principle, a matter of fact, but danger is a matter of judgment
and opinion. He goes on to note that risk may be said to be the likelihood of an event
occurring; danger may be the degree of damage (harm) caused should that event take place®.

2.7 The National Offender Management Service refers to risk in two dimensions. That being the
likelihood that an offence will occur, and the impact / harm of the offence should it happen.
Generally, when making a decision around probability and likelihood of re-offending,
consideration is needed towards static and dynamic factors.

2.8 Static factors are historical and do not change such as age, previous convictions and gender.
They can be used as a basis for actuarial assessments and are fundamental in considering an
individual’s potential to reoffend in future’. For example, recent published statistics
revealed that 44% of adults are reconvicted within one year of release. For those serving
sentences of less than twelve months this increased to 59%2. It is also widely accepted that
generally persons with a large number of previous offences have a higher rate of proven
reoffending than those with fewer previous offences®.

2.9 Dynamic factors are considered changeable and can vary over time. They include attitudes,
cognitions and impulsivity®®. It is documented that the greater their unmet need, the more
likely an individual is to re-offend. When considering whether an individual has been
rehabilitated, it is important to have regard towards the motivation behind their offending
and dynamic risk factors present at the time, against the steps taken to address such factors
thus reducing the risk of re-offending.

2.10 It is of note that problems and/or needs are more frequently observed in offender
populations than in the general population!!. Many of these factors are interlinked and
embedded in an individual’s past experiences. This can impact upon that person’s ability to
change their behaviour, particularly if the areas identified have not been addressed or
support has not been sought. Needs will vary from individual to individual and will rely upon
their level of motivation and the nature of the offence committed.

® Flaud, R. {1982). Cited in, Gendreau, P., Little, T. and Goggin, C. {1996). A meta-analysis of the predictors of adult offender
recidivism: what works! Criminology, 34, 557-607.

& Gendreau, P., Little, T. and Goggin, C. (1996). A meta-analysis of the predictors of adult offender recidivism: what works!
Criminology, 34, 557-607.

7 Craig, L. A. and Browne, K. B (2008). Assessing Risk in Sex Offenders: A Practitioner's Guide Paperback.

8 Ministry of Justice (2017) Proven reoffending statistics: July 2014 to June 2015, London: Ministry of Justice.

9 Ministry of Justice (2015): Transforming Rehabilitation: a summary of evidence on reducing reoffending. London: Ministry of
Justice.

19 McGuire, J. (2008). A review of effective interventions for reducing aggression and violence. Philosophical Transactions of the
Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 363(1503), 2577-2597

1 Nash, M. (1999} Police, Probation and Protecting the Public. London: Blackwell Press.

6|Page
Guidance on Suitability I?agealS



o Licensing

Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private

2.11

2.12

2.13

2.14

2.15

hire trades

Risk of re-offending:

The issue of recidivism and increase in serious crime rates has given rise to extensive
publications, theories and changes in legislation with many focusing upon the need for more
rehabilitation projects as a means of reducing re-offending rates. Central to the
rehabilitation of offenders is the concept of criminogenic needs. This has been described by
the National Offender Management Service as “any area where the offender has needs or
deficits, in which a reduction in the need or deficit would lead to a reduction in the risk of
re-conviction. An individual’s ability to address and reduce such needs relies heavily upon
their motivation to change and desist and often takes place over a period of time”'2.

Kurlychek, 2007 in her study noted that “a person who has offended in the past has been
found to have a high probability of future offending, but this risk of recidivism is highest in
the time period immediately after arrest or release from custody and, thereafter, decreases
rapidly and dramatically with age”*3.

A consistent finding throughout criminological literature is that male offenders tend to desist
from crime aged 30 years and over*. It is well documented that the change occurs for
various reasons; for example, as a result of successful treatment, natural maturation or the
development of positive social relationships®®. Female offenders are also considered more
likely to desist from offending as they mature. The peak age of reported offending for
females was 14 compared to 19 for males® .

Desisting from crime for people who have been involved in persistent offending is a difficult
and complex process, likely to involve lapses and relapses. Some individuals may never
desist’. As a result, it is important for individuals to evidence change in their behaviour
before they can be considered to present a low or nil risk of re-offending. Often the only
way of achieving this is through lapse of time.

The longer the time elapsed since an offence has been committed, the more likely the
individual will desist from crime. It is noted that the more a life is lived crime-free, the more
one comes to see the benefits of desistance’®. Demonstrating a change in offending
behaviour and an ability to make effective choices takes time and comes with some

12 National Offender Management Service (20160. Public Protection Manual Edition. Proven Reoffending Statistics Quarterly
Bulletin, October 2015 to December 2015

13 Kurlychek, M C, Brame, R (2007). Scarlet letters and recidivism: Does an old criminal record predict future offending? University
of South Carolina.

14 Serin, R, C. and Lloyd, C.D (2008). Examining the process of offender change: the transitions to crime desistance. 347-364.

15 Nash, M. (1999) Police, Probation and Protecting the Public. London: Blackwell Press.

16 Trueman, C.N. (2015). Women and Crime. The History Learning Site. Ingatestone: Essex.

17 Farrell, S {2005). Understanding Desistance from Crime: Emerging Theoretical Directions in Resettlement and Rehabilitation
(Crime and Justice) Paperback.

¥ Maguire, M., Morgan, R. and Reiner, R. (2002). The Oxford Handbook of Criminology. 3™ Edition. Oxford: Oxford University
Press.

Guidance on Suitability 260418

Page 16 7lPage



il, nstitute of Licensing

Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private

2.16

hire trades

ambiguity for those who have committed offences. A study in 2007 looking into previous
convictions and the links to re-offending concluded that “individuals who have offended in
the distant past seem less likely to recidivate than individuals who have offended in the
recent past”'°.

Although it is not possible to determine the future behaviour of an individual, taking steps
to reduce risk and protect the public can be achieved by following correct processes and
guidance. Having regard to an individual’s previous behaviour and their potential to cause
harm as a result of the choices they have made plays a significant part when making a
decision as to whether to grant a licence. Being able to evidence change in behaviour will
involve consideration of the circumstances at the time of the offence, steps taken to address
any issues identified and that person’s ability to sustain such change. This can be a long
process that can only be achieved over time.

¥ Kurlychek, M C, Brame, R {2007). Scarlet letters and recidivism: Does an old criminal record predict future offending? University

of South Carolina.

8|Page

Guidance on Suitability Pagesl 7



il, nstitute of Licensing

Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private
hire trades

Chapter 3: ‘Taxi’ Licensing Overview

3.1 Taxis are used by almost everyone in our society occasionally, but they are used regularly by
particularly vulnerable groups: children; the elderly; disabled people; and the intoxicated,
and a taxi driver has significant power over a passenger who places themselves, and their
personal safety, completely in the driver’s hands.

3.2 Local authorities (districts, unitaries and Welsh Councils) and TfL are responsible for hackney
carriage and private hire licensing.

33 The principal legislation is the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 and the Local Government
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. The purpose of taxi licensing is detailed in the DfT “Taxi
and Private Hire Licensing — Best Practice Guide” para 8 which states:

“The aim of local authority licensing of the taxi and PHV trades is to protect the public.”

3.4 Within the two licensing regimes, there are 5 types of licence: hackney carriage vehicle;
private hire vehicle; hackney carriage driver; private hire driver and private hire operator.

3.5 In relation to all these licences, the authority has a discretion over whether to grant. Whilst
there is some guidance issued by the DfT, there are no national standards.

3.6 Drivers and operators cannot be granted a licence unless the authority is satisfied that they
are a “fit and proper person” to hold that licence (see Local Government {(Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1976 ss 51 and 59 in respect of drivers; s55 in respect of operators).

3.7 There are no statutory criteria for vehicle licences; therefore, the authority has an absolute
discretion.
3.8 In each case, the authority has powers to grant a licence, renew it on application and, during

the currency of the licence, suspend or revoke it.

3.9 What is the role of each of these, and how do authorities determine an application, or take
action against a licence?

Taxi Drivers

3.10  The term “taxi driver” encompasses two different occupations: hackney carriage drivers and
private hire drivers. “Taxi driver” is therefore used as a broad, overarching term to cover
both hackney carriage and private hire drivers. In each case there are identical statutory

Page 18 dlPage
Guidance on Suitability 260418



3.11

3.12

3.13

3.14

3.15

3.16

3.17

stitute of Licensing

Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private
hire trades

criteria to be met before a licence can be granted and many authorities grant “dual” or
“combined” licences to cover driving both types of vehicle.

An applicant must hold a full DVLA or equivalent driver’s licence, have the right to work in
the UK, and be a “fit and proper” person?°,

The driving licence element is a question of fact. Although there are some issues with foreign
driving licences, ultimately a person either has, or does not have a driving licence.

An applicant must also have the right to remain, and work in the UK2L.

Again, this is ultimately a question of fact and the local authority should follow the guidance
issued by the Home Office.??

It is the whole issue of “fit and proper” that causes local authorities the most difficulties. It
has never been specifically judicially defined but it was mentioned in Leeds City Council v
Hussain?3. Silber J said:

“‘... the purpose of the power of suspension is to protect users of licensed vehicles and
those who are driven by them and members of the public. Its purpose [and], therefore
[the test of fitness and propriety], is to prevent licences being given to or used by those
who are not suitable people taking into account their driving record, their driving
experience, their sobriety, mental and physical fitness, honesty, and that they are people
who would not take advantage of their employment to abuse or assault passengers.”

This is reflected in a test widely used by local authorities:

‘Would you (as a member of the licensing committee or other person charged with the
ability to grant a hackney carriage driver’s licence) allow your son or daughter, spouse or
partner, mother or father, grandson or granddaughter or any other person for whom you
care, to get into a vehicle with this person alone?’?*

It is suggested that the expression “safe and suitable” person to hold a driver’s licence is a
good interpretation which neither adds nor removes anything from the original term of “fit
and proper” but brings the concept up to date.

20} ocal Government {Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. Section 51(1) covers private hire drivers, and section 59(1) covers
hackney carriage drivers.

2 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 S51(1){(a)(ii) in respect of private hire drivers and S59(1)(a){(ii) in
respect of hackney carriage drivers.

2 “Guidance for Licensing Authorities to Prevent Illegal Working in the Taxi and Private Hire Sector in England and Wales” -
Home Office, 1% December 2016 available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/licensing-authority-guide-to-right-
to-work-checks

23 [2002] EWHC 1145 (Admin), [2003] RTR 199

24 Button on Taxis — Licensing Law and Practice 4™ Ed Bloomsbury Professional at para 10.21

10| Page
Guidance on Suitability Pagesl9



3.18

3.19

3.20

3.21

3.22

3.23

il Licensing

Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private

hire trades

How can a local authority assess and then judge whether or not someone is safe and suitable
to hold a drivers’ licence?

The local authority has the power to require an applicant to provide:

“such information as they may reasonably consider necessary to enable them to
determine whether the licence should be granted and whether conditions should be
attached to any such licence.”%

This “information” can include any pre-conditions or tests that they consider necessary

Some of these are universal, such as medical assessments?®. Others are required by some
authorities, but not others. These include:

¢ Enhanced DBS certificates and sign-up to the update service;
e Knowledge tests;

e Driving tests;

e Disability Awareness;

e Signed Declarations;

e Spoken English tests.

The provision of information in these terms can satisfy the local authority that a person has
the skills and competencies to be a professional driver to hold a licence. However, the
concepts of safety and suitability go beyond this. There is the character of the person to be
considered as well.

Both hackney carriage and private hire drivers are exempt from the provisions of the
Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974. This means that there are no “spent” convictions and
that any and all criminal convictions (apart from “protected convictions” and “protected
cautions” where they have been declared?’) can be taken into account by the local authority
in assessing safety and suitability, but only relevant spent convictions should be considered
by the decision maker?®,

All Applicants/Licensees should be required to obtain an Enhanced DBS Certificate with
Barred Lists checks®® and to provide this to the Licensing Authority. All Licensees should also
be required to maintain their Certificates through the DBS Update Service throughout the
currency of their licence.

%5 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 s57(1)

%6 See Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 s57(2)

7 “Protected convictions” and “protected cautions” are single, minor and elderly matters that do not appear on any DBS
Certificates.

28 See Adamson v Waveney District Council [1997] 2 All ER 898

29 “For Taxi [driver] Licensing purposes the correct leve! of check is always the Enhanced level check, with the Adults and
Children’s Barred list check. Other Workforce should always be entered at X61 line 1 and Taxi Licensing should be entered at
X61 line 2” DBS email 31st August 2017.

Guidance on Suitability 260418

Page 20 11]Page



3.24

3.25

3.26

3.27

3.28

3.29

3.30

Kl Institute of Licensing

Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private

hire trades

If any applicant has, from the age of 10 years, spent six continuous months or more living
outside the United Kingdom, evidence of a criminal record check from the country/countries
covering the relevant period should be required.

Local authorities should have a policy to provide a baseline for the impact of any convictions,
cautions or other matters of conduct which concern a person’s safety and suitability3°.

The character of the driver in its entirety must be the paramount consideration when
considering whether they should be licensed. It is important to recognise that local
authorities are not imposing any additional punishment in relation to previous convictions or
behaviour. They are using all the information that is available to them to make an informed
decision as to whether or not the applicant or licensee is or remains a safe and suitable
person.

There are occasions where unsuitable people have been given licences by local authorities,
or if refused by the authority, have had it granted by a court on appeal.

Often this is because of some perceived hardship. Case law makes it clear that the impact of
losing (or not being granted) a driver’s licence on the applicant and his family is not a
consideration to be taken into account3l. This then leads to the question of whether the
stance taken by local authorities is robust enough to achieve that overriding aim of public
protection.

However, all too often local authorities depart from their policies and grant licences (or do
not take action against licensees) without clear and compelling reasons. It is vital that
Councillors recognise that the policy, whilst remaining a policy and therefore the Authority’s
own guidelines on the matter, is the baseline for acceptability. It should only be departed
from in exceptional circumstances and for justifiable reasons which should be recorded.

One common misunderstanding is that if the offence was not committed when the driver was
driving a taxi, it is much less serious, or even if it was in a taxi but not when passengers were
aboard. This is not relevant: speeding is dangerous, irrespective of the situation; drink driving
is dangerous, irrespective of the situation; bald tyres are dangerous, irrespective of the
situation. All these behaviours put the general public at risk. Violence is always serious. The
argument that it was a domestic dispute, or away from the taxi, is irrelevant. A person who
has a propensity to violence has that potential in every situation. Sexual offences are always
serious. A person who has in the past abused their position (whatever that may have been)

30 As recommended by the DfT “Taxi and Private Hire Licensing — Best Practice Guide” para 59
31 Leeds City Council v Hussain [2002] EWHC 1145 (Admin), [2003] RTR 199 and Cherwell District Council v Anwar[2011] EWHC
2943 (Admin)

12| Page
Guidance on Suitability P@ges21



3.31

3.32

3.33

3.34

3.35

Guidance on Suitability 260418

0 Licensing

Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private

hire trades

to assault another sexually has demonstrated completely unacceptable standards of
behaviour.

Applicants may claim that they have sought employment in other fields and been precluded
as a result of their antecedent history particularly if that contains convictions. They therefore
seek to become a licensed driver as an occupation of last resort. This is unacceptable as the
granting of a licence would place such a person in a unique position of trust. The paramount
responsibility of a licensing authority is to protect the public, not provide employment
opportunities.

Licensees are expected to demonstrate appropriate professional conduct at all time, whether
in the context of their work or otherwise. Licensees should be courteous, avoid
confrontation, not be abusive or exhibit prejudice in any way. In no circumstances should
Licensees take the law into their own hands. Licensees are expected to act with integrity and
demonstrate conduct befitting the trust that is placed in them.

There are those who seek to take advantage of vulnerable people by providing services that
they are not entitled to provide; for example, by plying for hire in an area where they are not
entitled to do so. Licensees are expected to be vigilant of such behaviour and to report any
concerns to the Police and the relevant licensing authority. Passengers should feel confident
to check that the person offering a service is entitled to do so. Licensees should willingly
demonstrate that they are entitled to provide the offered service by, for example, showing
their badge.

As a society, we need to ask the question “who is driving my taxi?” and be secure in the
knowledge that the answer is “a safe and suitable person”. The vast majority of drivers are
decent, law abiding people who work very hard to provide a good service to their customers
and the community at large. However poor decisions by local authorities and courts serve to
undermine the travelling public’s confidence in the trade as a whole. Unless local authorities
and the courts are prepared to take robust (and difficult) decisions to maintain the standards
the local authority lays down, and in some cases tighten up their own policies, the public
cannot have complete confidence in taxi drivers. This is detrimental to all involved.

Private Hire Operators

A private hire operator (“PHO”) is the person who takes a booking for a private hire vehicle
(“PHV”), and then dispatches a PHV driven by a licensed private hire driver (“PHD”) to fulfil
that booking. All three licences (PHO, PHV and PHD) must have been granted by the same

Page 22 B Page



3.36

3.37

3.38

3.39

3.40

3.41

Kl Institute of Licensing

Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private

hire trades

authority®. A local authority cannot grant a PHO licence unless the applicant has the right
to work in the UK and is a fit and proper person®.

As with taxi drivers the role of the PHO goes far beyond simply taking bookings and
dispatching vehicles. In the course of making the booking and dispatching the vehicle and
driver, the PHO will obtain significant amounts of personal information. It is therefore vital
that a PHO is as trustworthy and reliable as a driver, notwithstanding their slightly remote
role. Hackney carriages can also be pre-booked, but local authorities should be mindful that
where that booking is made by anybody other than a hackney carriage driver, there are no
controls or vetting procedures in place in relation to the person who takes that booking and
holds that personal information.

How then does a local authority satisfy itself as to the “fitness and propriety” or “safety and
suitability” of the applicant or licensee?

Spent convictions can be taken into account when determining suitability for a licence, but
the applicant (or licensee on renewal) can only be asked to obtain a Basic Disclosure from the
Disclosure and Barring Service.

Although this is by no means a perfect system, it does give local authorities a reasonable basis
for making an informed decision as to fitness and propriety of an applicant or existing
licensee.

To enable consistent and informed decisions to be made, it is important to have a working
test of fitness and propriety for PHOs and a suitable variation on the test for drivers can be
used:

“Would | be comfortable providing sensitive information such as holiday plans,
movements of my family or other information to this person, and feel safe in the
knowledge that such information will not be used or passed on for criminal or
unacceptable purposes?”34

There is a further point to consider in relation to PHOs and that concerns the staff used on
the telephones and radios. There is no reason why a condition cannot be imposed on a PHO
licence requiring them to undertake checks on those they employ/use within their company
to satisfy themselves that they are fit and proper people to undertake that task and retain
that information to demonstrate that compliance to the local authority. Any failure on the
part of the PHO to either comply with this requirement, or act upon information that they

32 See Dittah v Birmingham City Council, Choudhry v Birmingham City Council [1993] RTR 356 QBD
33 Section 55(1) Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976
34 Button on Taxis — Licensing Law and Practice 4" Ed Bloomsbury Professional at para 12.35

l4|Page

Guidance on Suitability @ﬁg&@?:



3.42

3.43

3.44

3.45

3.46

3.47

l Licensing

Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private

hire trades

obtain (thereby allowing unsuitable staff to work in positions of trust), would then have
serious implications on the continuing fitness and propriety of the PHO.

Care should be taken in circumstances where a PHO Licence is sought in the name of a limited
company, partnership or other business structure that all the requirements applicable to an
individual applicant are made of each director or partner of the applicant organisation®.
Only by so doing can a decision be made as to the fitness and propriety of the operating
entity.

Vehicle Proprietors

Similar considerations apply to the vehicle proprietors, both hackney carriage and private
hire (referred to here generically as “taxis”). Although the vehicle proprietor may not be
driving a vehicle (and if they are they will be subject to their own fitness and propriety test to
obtain a driver’s licence), they clearly have an interest in the use of the vehicle. They will also
be responsible for the maintenance of the vehicle, and vehicles that are not properly
maintained have a clear impact on public safety.

Taxis are used to transport people in many circumstances, and are seen everywhere across
the United Kingdom, at all times of the day and night, in any location. Therefore, taxis could
provide a transportation system for illegal activities or any form of contraband, whether that
is drugs, guns, illicit alcohol or tobacco, or people who are involved in or are the victims of
illegal activity, or children who may be at risk of being, or are being, abused or exploited.

In relation to both hackney carriages and private hire vehicles, the local authority has an
absolute discretion over granting the licence® and should therefore ensure that both their
enquiries and considerations are robust. It is much more involved than simply looking at the
vehicle itself and it is equally applicable on applications to transfer a vehicle as on grant
applications.

Again, this is not an exempt occupation for the purposes of the 1974 Act, but exactly the
same process can be applied as for private hire operators — Basic DBS, statutory declaration
and consideration of spent convictions. This can then be used in the light of a similar policy
in relation to suitability as the authority will already have for drivers and PHOs.

A suitable test would be:

“Would | be comfortable allowing this person to have control of a licensed vehicle that
can travel anywhere, at any time of the day or night without arousing suspicion, and be

35 See s57(1)(c) of the 1976 Act.
36 537 of the 1847 Act in relation to hackney carriages; section 48 of the 1976 Act to private hire vehicles.

Guidance on Suitability 260418

Page 24 15|Page



Institute of Licensing

Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private
hire trades

satisfied that he/she would not allow it to be used for criminal or other unacceptable
purposes, and be confident that he/she would maintain it to an acceptable standard
throughout the period of the licence?”?”

37 Button on Taxis — Licensing Law and Practice 4™ Ed Bloomsbury Professional at para 8.98
16| Page
Guidance on Suitability Eﬁg&825



Ll Licensing

Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private

hire trades

Chapter 4: Guidance on Determination

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

Guidance on Suitability 260418

As is clear from the overview of Offenders and Offending above, there is no evidence which
can provide precise periods of time which must elapse after a crime before a person can no
longer be considered to be at risk of reoffending, but the risk reduces over time. In light of
that, the suggested timescales below are intended to reduce the risk to the public to an
acceptable level.

Many members of our society use, and even rely on, hackney carriages and private hire
vehicles to provide transportation services. This can be on a regular basis, or only
occasionally, but in all cases passengers, other road users and society as a whole must have
confidence in the safety and suitability of the driver, the vehicle itself and anyone involved
with the booking process.

Ideally, all those involved in the hackney carriage and private hire trades (hackney carriage
and private hire drivers, hackney carriage and private hire vehicle owners and private hire
operators) would be persons of the highest integrity. In many cases that is true, and the vast
majority of those involved in these trades are decent, upstanding, honest and hard-working
individuals. Unfortunately, as in any occupation or trade, there are those who fail to conform
to those standards.

The purpose of this document is to offer guidance on how licensing authorities can determine
whether a particular person is safe and suitable either to be granted a licence in the first place
or to retain such a licence. As outlined above, a policy can be robust, and if necessary, say
never, and each case is then considered on its own merits in the light of that policy.

Pre-application requirements

Licensing authorities are entitled to set their own pre-application requirements. These will
vary depending upon the type of licence in question but can include some or all of the
following (these are not exhaustive lists):

Vehicles:

e Basic DBS checks;

® Specifications e.g. minimum number of doors, minimum seat size, headroom, boot space
etc;

* Mechanical tests and tests of the maintenance of the vehicle e.g. ripped seats etc;

e Emission limits/vehicle age limits;

e Wheelchair accessibility requirements.

Page 26 17|Page



Bl Institute of Licensing

Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

hire trades

Drivers:

¢ Enhanced DBS checks with update service;

e Checks made to the National Anti Fraud Network database on refusals and revocations of
hackney carriage and private hire licences (when available);

o Medical checks;

¢ Knowledge of the geographic area;

e Spoken and written English tests;

e Disability awareness training;

e Child sexual exploitation and safeguarding training.

Operators:

e Basic DBS checks;

e Details of their vetting procedures for their staff;
e Knowledge of the licensing area.

In relation to each of these licences, the licensing authority has discretion as to whether or
not to grant the licence.

Drivers and operators cannot be granted a licence unless the authority is satisfied that they
are a “fit and proper person” to hold that licence (see Local Government (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1976 ss 51 and 59 in respect of drivers; s55 in respect of operators).

There are no statutory criteria for vehicle licences, therefore the authority has an absolute
discretion over whether to grant either a hackney carriage or private hire proprietor’s licence.

“Fit and proper” means that the individual (or in the case of a private hire operator’s licence,
the limited company together with its directors and secretary, or all members of a
partnership®) is “safe and suitable” to hold the licence.

In determining safety and suitability the licensing authority is entitled to take into account all
matters concerning that applicant or licensee. They are not simply concerned with that
person’s behaviour whilst working in the hackney carriage or private hire trade. This
consideration is far wider than simply criminal convictions or other evidence of unacceptable
behaviour, and the entire character of the individual will be considered. This can include, but
is not limited to, the individual’s attitude and temperament.

38 Section 57(2}{c) of the Local Government {Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 allows a local authority to consider the
character of a company director or secretary, or any partner.

18| Page

Guidance on Suitability Paga 27



Bl Institute of Licensing

Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private

4.11

4.12

4,13

4.14

4.15

4.16

4.17

4.18

hire trades

Convictions for attempt or conspiracy will be regarded as convictions for the substantive
crime. A caution is regarded in exactly the same way as a conviction®. Fixed penaities and
community resolutions will also be considered in the same way as a conviction®°.

It is important to recognise that matters which have not resulted in a criminal conviction
(whether that is the result of an acquittal, a conviction being guashed, decision not to
prosecute or an investigation which is continuing where the individual has been bailed) can
and will be taken into account by the licensing authority. In addition, complaints where there
was no police involvement will also be considered. Within this document, any reference to
“conviction” will also include matters that amount to criminal behaviour, but which have not
resulted in a conviction.

In the case of any new applicant who has been charged with any offence and is awaiting trial,
the determination will be deferred until the trial has been completed or the charges
withdrawn. Where an existing licensee is charged, it will be for the licensing authority to
decide what action to take in the light of these guidelines.

In all cases, the licensing authority will consider the conviction or behaviour in question and
what weight should be attached to it, and each and every case will be determined on its own
merits, and in the light of these guidelines.

Any offences committed, or unacceptable behaviour reported whilst driving a hackney
carriage or private hire vehicle, concerning the use of a hackney carriage or private hire
vehicle, or in connection with an operator of a private hire vehicle will be viewed as
aggravating features, and the fact that any other offences were not connected with the
hackney carriage and private hire trades will not be seen as mitigating factors.

As the licensing authority will be looking at the entirety of the individual, in many cases safety
and suitability will not be determined by a specified period of time having elapsed following
a conviction or the completion of a sentence. Time periods are relevant and weighty
considerations, but they are not the only determining factor.

In addition to the nature of the offence or other behaviour, the quantity of matters and the
period over which they were committed will also be considered. Patterns of repeated
unacceptable or criminal behaviour are likely to cause greater concern than isolated
occurrences as such patterns can demonstrate a propensity for such behaviour or offending.

Most applicants or licensees will have no convictions and that is clearly the ideal situation. In
relation to other people, it is accepted that human beings do make mistakes and lapse in their
conduct for a variety of reasons, and it is further accepted that many learn from experience
and do not go on to commit further offences. Accordingly, in many cases an isolated

% This is because a caution can only be imposed following an admission of guilt, which is equivalent to a guilty plea on
prosecution.

40 This is because payment of a fixed penalty indicates acceptance of guilt, and a community resolution can only be imposed
following an admission of guilt.

Guidance on Suitability 260418

Page 28 19]Page



Kl Institute of Licensing

Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private

4.19

4.20

4.21

4.22

4.23

4.24

hire trades

conviction, especially if committed some time ago, may not prevent the grant or renewal of
a licence.

It is also important to recognise that once a licence has been granted, there is a continuing
requirement on the part of the licensee to maintain their safety and suitability. The licensing
authority has powers to take action against the holder of all types of licence (driver’s, vehicle
and operator’s) and it must be understood that any convictions or other actions on the part
of the licensee which would have prevented them being granted a licence on initial
application will lead to that licence being revoked.

Any dishonesty by any applicant or other person on the applicant’s behalf which is discovered
to have occurred in any part of any application process (e.g. failure to declare convictions,
false names or addresses, falsified references) will result in a licence being refused, or if
already granted, revoked and may result in prosecution.

As the direct impact on the public varies depending upon the type of licence applied for or
held, it is necessary to consider the impact of particular offences on those licences separately.
However, there are some overriding considerations which will apply in all circumstances.

Generally, where a person has more than one conviction, this will raise serious questions
about their safety and suitability. The licensing authority is looking for safe and suitable
individuals, and once a pattern or trend of repeated offending is apparent, a licence will not
be granted or renewed.

Where an applicant/licensee is convicted of an offence which is not detailed in this guidance,
the licensing authority will take that conviction into account and use these guidelines as an
indication of the approach that should be taken.

These guidelines do not replace the duty of the licensing authority to refuse to grant a licence
where they are not satisfied that the applicant or licensee is a fit and proper person. Where
a situation is not covered by these guidelines, the authority must consider the matter from
first principles and determine the fitness and propriety of the individual.

Drivers

4.25

4.26

As the criteria for determining whether an individual should be granted or retain a hackney
carriage driver’s licence are identical to the criteria for a private hire driver’s licence, the two
are considered together.

A driver has direct responsibility for the safety of their passengers, direct responsibility for
the safety of other road users and significant control over passengers who are in the vehicle.
As those passengers may be alone, and may also be vulnerable, any previous convictions or
unacceptable behaviour will weigh heavily against a licence being granted or retained.

20| Page

Guidance on Suitability Raga 9



Bl Institute of Licensing

Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private

4.27

4.28

4.29

4.30

431

4.32

4.33

4.34

Guidance on Suitability 260418

hire trades

As stated above, where an applicant has more than one conviction showing a pattern or
tendency irrespective of time since the convictions, serious consideration will need to be
given as to whether they are a safe and suitable person.

In relation to single convictions, the following time periods should elapse following
completion of the sentence (or the date of conviction if a fine was imposed) before a licence
will be granted.

Crimes resulting in death

Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime which resulted in the death of
another person or was intended to cause the death or serious injury of another person they
will not be licensed.

Exploitation

Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime involving, related to, or has any
connection with abuse, exploitation, use or treatment of another individual irrespective of
whether the victim or victims were adults or children, they will not be licensed. This includes
slavery, child sexual exploitation, grooming, psychological, emotional or financial abuse, but
this is not an exhaustive list.

Offences involving violence

Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence of violence, or connected with any offence
of violence, a licence will not be granted until at least 10 years have elapsed since the
completion of any sentence imposed.

Possession of a weapon
Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of a weapon or any other weapon related

offence, a licence will not be granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since the completion
of any sentence imposed.

Sex and indecency offences

Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence involving or connected with illegal sexual
activity or any form of indecency, a licence will not be granted.

In addition to the above, the licensing authority will not grant a licence to any applicant who
is currently on the Sex Offenders Register or on any ‘barred’ list.

Page 30 2 [Poge



il, Institute of Licensing

Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private

4.35

4.36

4.37

4.38

4.39

4.40

441

hire trades

Dishonesty

Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence of dishonesty, or any offence where
dishonesty is an element of the offence, a licence will not be granted until at least 7 years
have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed.

Drugs

Where an applicant has any conviction for, or related to, the supply of drugs, or possession
with intent to supply or connected with possession with intent to supply, a licence will not be
granted until at least 10 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed.

Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of drugs, or related to the possession of
drugs, a licence will not be granted until at least 5 years have elapsed since the completion
of any sentence imposed. In these circumstances, any applicant will also have to undergo
drugs testing at their own expense to demonstrate that they are not using controlled drugs.

Discrimination

Where an applicant has a conviction involving or connected with discrimination in any form,
a licence will not be granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since the completion of any
sentence imposed.

Motoring convictions

Hackney carriage and private hire drivers are professional drivers charged with the responsibility
of carrying the public. Any motoring conviction demonstrates a lack of professionalism and will
be considered seriously. It is accepted that offences can be committed unintentionally, and a
single occurrence of a minor traffic offence would not prohibit the grant of a licence or may not
result in action against an existing licence. Subsequent convictions reinforce the fact that the
licensee does not take their professional responsibilities seriously and is therefore not a safe and
suitable person to be granted or retain a licence.

Drink driving/driving under the influence of drugs/using a hand-held telephone
or hand held device whilst driving

Where an applicant has a conviction for drink driving or driving under the influence of drugs, a
licence will not be granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since the completion of any
sentence or driving ban imposed. In these circumstances, any applicant will also have to
undergo drugs testing at their own expense to demonstrate that they are not using controlled
drugs.

Where an applicant has a conviction for using a held-hand mobile telephone or a hand-held

device whilst driving, a licence will not be granted until at least 5 years have elapsed since the
conviction or completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed, whichever is the later.

22| Page

Guidance on Suitability Pagas31



s | Licensing

Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private

4.42

4.43

4.44

4.45

hire trades

Other motoring offences

A minor traffic or vehicle related offence is one which does not involve loss of life, driving under
the influence of drink or drugs, driving whilst using a mobile phone, and has not resulted in injury
to any person or damage to any property (including vehicles). Where an applicant has 7 or more
points on their DVLA licence for minor traffic or similar offences, a licence will not be granted
until at least 5 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed.

A major traffic or vehicle related offence is one which is not covered above and also any offence
which resulted in injury to any person or damage to any property (including vehicles). It also
includes driving without insurance or any offence connected with motor insurance. Where an
applicant has a conviction for a major traffic offence or similar offence, a licence will not be
granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed.

Hackney carriage and private hire offences

Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence concerned with or connected to hackney
carriage or private hire activity (excluding vehicle use), a licence will not be granted until at least
7 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed.

Vehicle use offences

Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence which involved the use of a vehicle
(including hackney carriages and private hire vehicles), a licence will not be granted until at least
7 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed.

Private Hire Operators

4.46

4.47

4.48

Guidance on Suitability 260418

A private hire operator (“an operator”) does not have direct responsibility for the safety of
passengers, other road users or direct contact with passengers who are in the private hire
vehicle (except where they are also licensed as a private hire driver). However, in performing
their duties they obtain and hold considerable amounts of personal and private information
about their passengers which must be treated in confidence and not revealed to others, or used
by the operator or their staff for criminal or other unacceptable purposes.

As stated above, where an applicant has more than one conviction, serious consideration will
need to be given as to whether they are a safe and suitable person.

Operators must ensure that any staff that are used within the business (whether employees
or independent contractors) and are able to access any information as described above are
subject to the same standards as the operator themselves. This can be effected by means of
the individual staff member being required by the operator to obtain a basic DBS certificate.
If an operator is found not to be applying the required standards and using staff that do not
meet the licensing authority’s overall criteria, that will lead to the operator’s licence being
revoked.

Page 32 23|Page



bl Institute of Licensing

Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private
hire trades

4.49  As public trust and confidence in the overall safety and integrity of the private hire system is
vital, the same standards will be applied to operators as those applied to drivers, which are
outlined above.

Vehicle proprietors

4.50 Vehicle proprietors (both hackney carriage and private hire) have two principal
responsibilities.

4.51 Firstly, they must ensure that the vehicle is maintained to an acceptable standard at all times.

4.52 Secondly, they must ensure that the vehicle is not used for illegal or illicit purposes.

4.53 As stated above, where an applicant has more than one conviction, serious consideration will
need to be given as to whether they are a safe and suitable person to be granted or retain a
vehicle licence.

4.54  As public trust and confidence in the overall safety and integrity of the private hire system is

vital, the same standards will be applied to proprietors as those applied to drivers, which are
outlined above.

24| Page
Guidance on Suitability EGQI&&?:B



Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private
hire trades

Acknowledgements

[n December 2015, the Institute of Licensing established a working party to look at the creation
of a model or standard set of guidelines in relation to assessing the suitability of applicants and
licence holders in relation to taxi drivers, operators and vehicle proprietors, taking into account

the character of the applicant or licensee.

The core project group comprised:

e Stephen Turner, Solicitor at Hull City Council, Licensing Lead for Lawyers in Local
Government and Vice Chair of the North East Region loL (Project Group Chair)

e Jim Button, Solicitor at James Button & Co and President of loL

¢ Philip Kolvin QC, Cornerstone Barristers and Patron of loL

¢ John Miley, Licensing Manager for Broxtowe Borough Council, National Chair for NALEO
and Vice Chair of the East Midlands Region loL

e Linda Cannon, previously Licensing Manager for Basingstoke & Dean and Hart Councils,
and now private licensing consultant and Chair of the South East Region loL

¢ Phil Bates, Licensing Manager for Southampton City Council

e Sue Nelson, Executive Officer of loL

This Guidance is the result of the work of the project team and includes consideration
of antecedent history of the applicant or licence holder and its relevance to their ‘character’ as

well as consideration of convictions, cautions and non-conviction information.

The Institute is delighted to have the Local Government Association, the National Association of
Licensing and Enforcement Officers and Lawyers in Local Government contributing to and

supporting this project with loL.

The Institute is also grateful to others who have contributed to the work of the project group,
including former probation officer Hannah Jones (now Housing Officer at Flintshire Council) who

has assisted the group in providing the chapter on 'Offenders and Offending'.

25| Page
Guidance on Suitability 260418 Page 34



0 Licensing

Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private
hire trades

This project has been further enhanced by invaluable contributions from the following individuals

and organisations:

e Ellie Greenwood and Rebecca Johnson, Local Government Association
e Tim Briton, Lawyers in Local Government

e Ben Atrill

e Suzy Lamplugh Trust

¢ Councillor Richard Wright, North Kesteven District Council

e Professor of Criminology Fiona Measham, Durham University

¢ Councillor Philip Evans, Conwy County Borough Council

e Councillors Catriona Morris and Mick Legg, Milton Keynes Council

® Louise Scott Garner

e Jenna Parker, Institute of Licensing

Finally, grateful thanks go to all those who responded to the initial fact-finding survey and the

subsequent consultation on the draft guidance.

26| Page
Guidance on Suitability 5)63133835



o 5 - -
d |ﬂStltute Of L!EE“S‘ng www.instituteoflicensing.org

The Local Government Association (LGA) is the national voice of local government. www.local.gov.uk

Lawyers in Local Government (LLG). www.lawyersinlocalgovernment.org

National Association of Licensing and Enforcement Officers (NALEO). www.naleo.org.uk

Page 36




1.1

1.2

APPENDIX 2
OFFICIAL

DERBYSHIRE MODEL POLICY
FOR THE CONSIDERATION OF CONVICTIONS

GENERAL POLICY

Principles

This Policy will act as guidance for the Council when considering the fitness
and propriety of license-holders and applicants. In exercising this duty, the
safety of the public will be the Council’s primary consideration.

This policy provides guidance to the Licensing Committee (including Sub-
Committees) and Officers with delegated powers on the criteria to take into
account when determining whether or not an applicant or an existing licence
holder is a fit and proper person to hold a Hackney Carriage and/or Private
Hire drivers Licence. Any decision will be made on the balance of probabilities
and not beyond all reasonable doubt.

Each application will be determined on its own merits. Some discretion to
depart from these guidelines may be appropriate if the offence is isolated and
there are mitigating circumstances. However the overriding consideration
should be the protection of the public.

NB As a matter of law, where an applicant has been convicted of a criminal
offence, the licensing authority cannot review the merits of the conviction.

Reference in this Policy to revocation should be taken, where appropriate, to
include refusal to renew a licence.

Fit & Proper

In seeking to safeguard the public, the Council seeks to ensure:
e That a person is a fit and proper person in accordance with Sections 51
and 59 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976
(Part 11);
e That the person does not pose a threat to the public;
e That the public are safeguarded from dishonest persons; and
e The safety of children, young persons and vulnerable adults.

The term “Fit and Proper Person” for the purposes of licensing is not legally
defined and in assessing whether someone may be “Fit and Proper” the
Council will seek to establish that applicants are considered safe and suitable
to hold a licence. The Council will take into account all available information,
including information obtained from other local authorities, the Police and any
third party organisations.

Page 37 OFFICIAL



1.3

1.4

1.5

APPENDIX 2
OFFICIAL

Considering Criminal Records

Listed below are some general principles relating to the determination of
applications for drivers and operators which will generally be followed where
convictions are admitted or otherwise identified.

In addition to providing a criminal record disclosure on application, all licence
holders will be required to sign up to the Disclosure & Barring Service update
service for the duration of the period they are licensed for. The Council must
be given permission to check the licence holder’s record when necessary.

In this guidance the word “conviction” is includes convictions, cautions,
warnings, reprimands, fixed penalty notices and other relevant information.
For custodial sentences the term “from date sentence has ended” is taken to
be the date which is reached once the whole of the period as sentenced by
the court has elapsed and not necessarily the length of time served by the
applicant. If the sentence is amended by a court at a later date then this new
sentence becomes relevant for the purposes of this policy. For non-custodial
offences the relevant date will be the date of sentencing.

Whilst the Council may consider that a person with a conviction for a serious
offence may not need to be automatically barred from obtaining a licence, it is
however to be normally expected that the applicant would be required to:
e Remain free of conviction for an appropriate period as detailed below;
and
e Show adequate evidence that they are a fit and proper person to hold a
licence (the onus will be on the applicant to produce such evidence).

NB Solely remaining free of conviction may not necessarily be adequate
evidence that a person is a fit and proper person to hold a licence.

Outstanding Charges or Summonses

If an outstanding charge or summons involves a serious offence and/or the
individual's conviction history indicates a possible pattern of unlawful
behaviour or character trait, then in the interests of public safety the
application should normally be put on hold until proceedings are concluded or
the licence may be refused. Such cases will always be referred to the
Licensing Committee with a view to refusal/revocation. In urgent cases CBC
delegates the authority to revoke to officers.

Non-conviction information

If an individual has been arrested or charged, but not convicted, for a serious
offence which suggests he could be a danger to the public, consideration
should be given to revoking their licence or refusing the application if the
evidence supports this. In assessing the action to take, the safety of the public
must be the paramount concern.

OFFICIAL Page 38



21

APPENDIX 2
OFFICIAL

Where an applicant has had a Hackney Carriage/Private hire driver’s licence
revoked by any local authority, the Council will not normally grant a licence
until at least twelve months has elapsed since the revocation. The applicant’s
previous licensing authority may be contacted for details of why the licence
was revoked.

OFFENCES

The following guidance applies to new applicants and those cases where a
licence holder is convicted during the period of their current licence.

All categories below include any similar offences (including attempted or
conspiracy to commit) and any offences which replace those specified.

Serious offences involving violence

Licensed drivers have close regular contact with the public. A firm line will be
taken with those who have convictions for offences involving violence.

An application will normally be refused if the applicant has a conviction for an
offence that involved the loss of life. Existing licence-holders convicted of
such offences shall have their licence revoked. This applies to offences of:
e Murder
Manslaughter
Manslaughter or culpable homicide while driving
Terrorism offences
Kidnapping or abduction

A licence will not normally be granted where an applicant has a conviction for
an offence or similar offence(s) to those below unless at least 10 years have
passed since the completion of any sentence and /or licence period:
e Arson
e Malicious wounding or grievous bodily harm which is racially
aggravated

Actual bodily harm which is racially aggravated
Grievous bodily harm with intent

Robbery

Possession of firearm

Riot

Assault Police
Common assault which is racially aggravated
Violent disorder
Threats to kill
Resisting arrest
e Hate crime against a person
This section feels too inclusive, it seems disproportionate to include offences
such as GBH with intent and assault police/ resist arrest/racially aggravated
common assault together with an exclusion for 10 years.

Page 39 OFFICIAL



2.2

23

APPENDIX 2
OFFICIAL

Existing licence-holders convicted of such offences will have their licence
revoked.

A licence will not normally be granted where the applicant has a conviction for
an offence or similar offence(s) which replace the offences below unless at
least 5 years have passed since the completion of any sentence and/or
licence period:

¢ Racially-aggravated criminal damage

e Racially-aggravated offence

e Hate crime against property
Existing licence-holders convicted of such offences will normally have their
licence revoked.
A licence will not normally be granted where the applicant has a conviction for
an offence or similar offence(s) which replace the offences below and at least
3 years have passed since the completion of any sentence and/or licence
period:

e Common assault/Battery

e Assault occasioning actual bodily harm

o Affray

e S5 Public Order Act 1986 offence (harassment, alarm or distress)

e S.4 Public Order Act 1986 offence (fear of provocation of violence)

e S4A Public Order Act 1986 offence (intentional harassment, alarm or
distress)

e Obstruction

e Criminal damage

e Harassment

e Offences involving anti-social behaviour
Existing licence-holders convicted of such offences will have normally have
their licence revoked or subject to a lengthy suspension.

A licence will normally be revoked/refused if an individual has more than one
conviction in the last 10 years for offences of a violent nature.

Possession of a weapon

If an applicant has been convicted of possession of a weapon or any other
weapon related offence, depending on the circumstances of the offence, at
least 3 years must have passed since the completion of the sentence, before
a licence is granted.

Existing licence-holders convicted of such offences will have normally have
their licence revoked or subject to a lengthy suspension.

Sexual and indecency offences
As licensed drivers often carry unaccompanied and vulnerable passengers,

applicants with convictions for sexual offences must be closely scrutinised. All
sexual offences should be considered as serious. Applicants with convictions

OFFICIAL Page 40



24

APPENDIX 2
OFFICIAL

for sexual offences will be refused a licence upon application/renewal or
review. Existing licence holders will have their licence immediately revoked.

Such offences include:

Rape

Assault by penetration

Offences involving children or vulnerable adults
Grooming, Trafficking or other Sexual Exploitation related offences
(adults and/or children)

Making or distributing obscene material

Possession of images depicting child sexual abuse.
Sexual assault

Indecent assault

Exploitation of prostitution

In relation to indecency offences, an applicant should be free of conviction for
at least 5 years (or at least 5 years must have passed since the completion of
the sentence, whichever is longer), if he / she has a conviction for an offence
such as:

e Making indecent telephone calls

e Importuning

¢ Indecent exposure

e Soliciting (kerb crawling)
Existing licence-holders convicted of such offences will have normally have
their licence revoked or subject to a lengthy suspension.

A licence will be revoked/refused if an applicant has more than one conviction
for an indecency offence.

In addition to the above the licensing authority will not licence any person who
is currently on the Sex Offenders Register or any other similar register.

Dishonesty

A licensed driver is expected to be trustworthy. In the course of their working
duties drivers will deal with cash transactions and valuable property may be
left in their vehicles. Drivers may well deal with customers who are vulnerable
or intoxicated and potentially easily confused. For these reasons, a serious
view is taken of any conviction involving dishonesty.

In general, a minimum period of 3 years free of conviction or at least 3 years

have passed since the completion of sentence (whichever is longer) should

be required before granting a licence. Offences involving dishonesty include:
e Theft

Burglary

Fraud

Benefit fraud

Handling or receiving stolen goods

Forgery

Page 41 OFFICIAL



2.5

APPENDIX 2
OFFICIAL

Conspiracy to defraud

Obtaining money or property by deception
Other deception

Taking a vehicle without consent

Existing licence-holders convicted of such offences will have normally have
their licence revoked.

A licence will normally be refused/revoked if an individual has more than one
conviction for dishonesty or they are found to have intentionally misled the
council, or lied as part of the application process.

Alcohol & Drugs

An isolated conviction for drunkenness need not debar an applicant from
gaining or keeping a licence. In some cases, a warning may be appropriate.
However, a number of convictions for drunkenness, including drunk and
disorderly or drunk and incapable, could indicate a medical problem
necessitating critical examination and refusal or revocation of a licence.

In addition, new applicants will normally be required to show a period of 10
years has elapsed after completion of detoxification treatment if (s)he was an
alcoholic.

A serious view is taken of any drug related offence. The nature and quantity of
the drugs, whether for personal use or supply are issues which should be
considered.

A licence will not normally be granted where the applicant has more than one
conviction for offences related to the supply of drugs and has not been free of
conviction for 10 years. An existing licence will normally be revoked where the
licence holder is convicted of an offence related to the supply of drugs.

A licence will not normally be granted where a new applicant has more than
one conviction for offences related to the possession of drugs and has not
been free of conviction for 5 years.

New applicants who have an isolated conviction for an offence related to the
possession of drugs within the last 3-5 years may be granted a licence, but
consideration should be given to the nature and quantity of the drugs.

A revocation or lengthy suspension may be appropriate where an existing
licence holder has received more than one conviction for offences related to
the possession of drugs.

If there is evidence of persistent drug use, misuse or dependency, a specialist
examination (in accordance with the DVLA group two medical standards) may
be required before a licence is granted (or reinstated if suspended). If a new
applicant was an addict then they would normally be required to show
evidence of 5 years free from drug taking after detoxification treatment.

OFFICIAL Page 42



2.6

2.7

2.8

APPENDIX 2
OFFICIAL

Driving offences involving the loss of life

A very serious view is to be taken of anyone who has been convicted of a
driving offence that resulted in the loss of life. A licence will normally be
refused or revoked if an individual has a conviction for:
e Causing death by dangerous driving
e Causing death by careless driving whilst under the influence of drink or
drugs
e Causing death by driving: unlicensed, disqualified or uninsured drivers

Before a licence is granted, a new applicant should be free of conviction for
10 years (or at least 10 years must have passed since the completion of the
sentence, whichever is longer) if the applicant has a conviction for:

e Causing death by careless driving

e Causing death by driving: unlicensed, disqualified or uninsured drivers.
Existing licence-holders convicted of such offences will have normally have
their licence revoked.

A licence will not be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction for
any of these offences.

Driving offences involving alcohol and/or drugs

A serious view will be taken of convictions of driving, or attempting to drive, or
being in charge of a vehicle while under the influence of drink or drugs. Where
a disqualification has occurred as a result of a drug or drink-driving offence
existing licences will be immediately revoked. For new applicants at least 5
years free of conviction should elapse after the restoration of the DVLA
licence before an applicant is granted a licence.

More than one conviction for this type of offence or one such offence within
the last 5 years is likely to merit refusal.

In addition, applicants will normally be required to show a period of at least 5
years has elapsed after completion of detoxification treatment if (s)he was an
alcoholic or drug addict.

Major Traffic Offences

Subject to the above paragraphs an isolated conviction for a major traffic
offence, without disqualification, such as dangerous driving or driving without
due care and attention will require careful consideration of the facts.

In cases of disqualification at least 3 years free from conviction after the
restoration of the DVLA licence should normally elapse before a new
applicant is granted a licence.

Where an applicant has been convicted of a major traffic offence which has
not resulted in disqualification, careful consideration should be given to the

Page 43 OFFICIAL



29

APPENDIX 2
OFFICIAL

circumstances surrounding the offence. An application for a licence will
normally be refused where the offence occurred less than 2 years prior to the
application.

Where an existing licence holder receives a conviction for a major traffic
offence, the licence will normally be revoked. Any subsequent application for
a new licence will be determined in accordance with the guidance above.

NB A non-exhaustive list of traffic offences is set out in the Appendix
Minor Traffic Offences

Isolated convictions for minor traffic offences should not prevent a person
from proceeding with an application or keeping their licence. However, the
number, type and frequency of this type of offence will be taken into account.

If there are several minor traffic offences a new applicant will normally be
expected to show a period free of conviction of at least 6 months.

For existing licence holders convicted of a minor traffic offence a warning may
be more appropriate than revocation or suspension. However, multiple minor

traffic offences will normally be taken as reflecting seriously on the applicant's
driving standard and more serious sanctions may be considered.

A licence will normally be refused or revoked where an individual has 12 or
more penalty points on his DVLA licence for minor traffic offences but has not
been disqualified from driving.

Where an offence has resulted in the applicant being disqualified from driving
for a period of time this will normally be taken as reflecting seriously on the
applicant's driving standard. Generally, a period of 12 months free from
conviction must have elapsed from the restoration of the DVLA licence.

Where an existing licence holder is disqualified from driving the licence will
normally be revoked.

OFFICIAL Page 44



210

212

213

2.14

APPENDIX 2
OFFICIAL

NB A non-exhaustive list of traffic offences is set out in the Appendix

Totting Up Disqualifications

Where a number of traffic offences has resulted in a driver receiving 12
penalty points or more on his/her licence the driver will be disqualified from
driving unless the Court is satisfied that exceptional hardship would be
suffered by an individual if disqualified. This is known as a “totting-up”
disqualification.

Where an applicant has a totting-up disqualification an application will usually
be refused until a period of between 12 months and 2 years has lapsed from
the restoration of the DVLA licence depending on the seriousness of the
offences which led to the totting up.

Where an existing licence holder is disqualified from driving as a result of a
totting up, the licence will normally be revoked.

Borderline traffic offences

Certain offences may not be clearly categorised as Major or Minor. Such
offences will be treated as major traffic offences if the court awarded 4 or
more penalty points for the offence and as minor traffic offences if the court
awarded 3 or less penalty points for the offence.

A non-exhaustive list of such traffic offences can be found in the Appendix.
Plying For Hire

Any applicant who has committed an offence of plying for hire within the 6
months preceding their application will normally be refused a licence. Any
existing licence holder found to have committed this offence will be judged on
the circumstances if the case, and at the least suspension of the licence
should be considered. Where a driver is convicted on more than one occasion
the licence will be revoked or not granted. Consideration will be taken of
whether at the time there was no insurance cover in place for the vehicle. It
will be up to the applicant to prove that there was valid insurance in place at
the time of the offence.

Insurance Offences

A serious view will be taken of convictions of driving a vehicle without
insurance. An isolated incident will not necessarily stop a licence being
granted provided a new applicant has been free of conviction for 3 years,
subject to a strict warning being given as to future behaviour. For existing
licence holders an isolated incident would be suitable for a short suspension
or a warning.

Page 45 OFFICIAL



APPENDIX 2
OFFICIAL

More than one of these offences would normally result in a licence being
refused or revoked.

Isolated incidents associated with a licensing offence will not necessarily

prevent a licence being granted or renewed. Each case will be assessed on
its merits.

OTHER OFFENCES AND SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES

If the applicant has declared any other offences not listed above or the
circumstances of the case justify, an officer acting under delegated powers
will, if he/she considers it appropriate, refer the application to the Licensing
Committee for determination.

OFFICIAL Page 46



APPENDIX 2
OFFICIAL

APPENDIX

CATEGORIES OF MOTORING OFFENCES

1 MAJOR TRAFFIC OFFENCES

AC10 Failing to stop after an accident

AC20 Failing to give particulars or to report an accident within 24 hours

AC30 Undefined accident offences

BA10 Driving while disqualified by order of court

BA30 Attempting to drive while disqualified by order of court

BA40 Causing death by driving while disqualified

BAG60 Causing serious injury by driving while disqualified

CD10 Driving without due care and attention

CD20 Driving without reasonable consideration for other road users

CD30 Driving without due care and attention or without reasonable consideration for
other road users

CD40 Causing death through careless driving when unfit through drink *

CD50 Causing death by careless driving when unfit through drugs *

CD60 Causing death by careless driving with alcohol level above the limit *

CD70 Causing death by careless driving then failing to supply a specimen for
analysis *

CD80 Causing death by careless or inconsiderate driving *

CD90 Causing Death by driving: unlicensed, disqualified or uninsured drivers *
DD40 Dangerous driving

DD60 Manslaughter or culpable homicide while driving a vehicle *

DD80 Causing death by dangerous driving *

DD90 Furious driving

DG60 Causing death by careless driving with drug level above the limit*

The above offences marked * are dealt with in the section entitled driving offences
involving the loss life

DR10 Driving or attempting to drive with alcohol level above limit +

DR20 Driving or attempting to drive while unfit through drink +

DR31 Driving or attempting to drive then refusing to give permission for analysis of a
blood sample that was taken without consent due to incapacity

DR40 In charge of a vehicle while alcohol level above limit +

DRS50 In charge of a vehicle while unfit through drink +

DR60 Failure to provide a specimen for analysis in circumstances other than driving
or attempting to drive

DR61 Failure to provide a specimen for analysis in circumstances other than driving
or attempting to drive +

DR70 Failing to provide specimen for breath test +

DR80 Driving or attempting to drive when unfit through drugs +

DR90 In charge of a vehicle when unfit through drugs +

DG10 Driving or attempting to drive with drug level above the specified limit

DG40 In charge of a vehicle while drug level above the specified limit

28

The above offences marked + are dealt with in the section entitled alcohol and drugs
IN10 Using a vehicle uninsured against third party risks

Page 47 OFFICIAL



APPENDIX 2
OFFICIAL

LC20 Driving otherwise than in accordance with a licence

LC30 Driving after making a false declaration about fitness when applying for a
licence

LC40 Driving a vehicle having failed to notify a disability

LC50 Driving after a licence has been revoked or refused on medical grounds
MS50 Motor racing on the highway

UT50 Aggravated taking of a vehicle

TT99 Signifies a disqualification under the totting up procedure 12 or more points
within three years

2. MINOR TRAFFIC OFFENCES

CU10 Using vehicle with defective brakes

CU20 Causing or likely to cause danger by reason of use of unsuitable vehicle or
using a vehicle with parts or accessories (excluding brakes, steering or tyres) in a
dangerous condition

CU30 Using a vehicle with defective tyre(s)

CU40 Using a vehicle with defective steering

CUS50 Causing or likely to cause danger by reason of load or passengers

CUB80 Using a mobile phone while driving a vehicle

MS10 Leaving a vehicle in a dangerous position

MS20 Unlawful pillion riding

MS30 Play street Offences

MS40 Driving with uncorrected defective eyesight or refusing to submit to a test
MS60 Offences not covered by other codes

MS70 Driving with uncorrected defective eyesight

MS80 Refusing to submit to an eyesight test

MS90 Failure to give information as to the identity of driver etc.

MW10 Contravention of Special Road Regulations (excluding speed limits)
PC10 Undefined contravention of Pedestrian Crossing Regulations

PC20 Contravention of Pedestrian Crossing Regulations with moving vehicle
PC30 Contravention of Pedestrian Crossing Regulations with stationary vehicle
SPI0 Exceeding goods vehicle speed limit

SP20 Exceeding speed limit for type of vehicle (excluding goods or passenger
vehicles)

SP30 Exceeding statutory speed limit on a public road

SP40 Exceeding passenger vehicle speed limit

SP50 Exceeding speed limit on a motorway

SP60 Undefined speed limit offence

TS10 Failing to comply with traffic light signals

TS20 Failing to comply with double white lines

TS30 Failing to comply with a "Stop" sign

TS40 Failing to comply with direction of a constable/ warden

TS50 Failing to comply with traffic sign (excluding "Stop" sign, traffic lights or double
white lines)

TS60 Failing to comply with school crossing patrol sign

TS70 Undefined failure to comply with a traffic direction sign

3. HYBRID TRAFFIC OFFENCES

OFFICIAL Page 48



APPENDIX 2
OFFICIAL

CU10 Using vehicle with defective brakes

CU20 Causing or likely to cause danger by reason of use of unsuitable vehicle or
using a vehicle with parts or accessories (excluding brakes, steering or tyres) in a
dangerous condition

CU30 Using a vehicle with defective tyre(s)

CU40 Using a vehicle with defective steering

CU50 Causing or likely to cause danger by reason of load or passengers

SP10 Exceeding goods vehicle speed limit

SP20 Exceeding speed limit for type of vehicle (excluding goods or passenger
vehicles)

SP30 Exceeding statutory speed limit on a public road

SP40 Exceeding passenger vehicle speed limit

SP50 Exceeding speed limit on a motorway

SP60 Undefined speed limit offence

Other non endorsable motoring offences i.e. no MOT

NOTE:
All offences in this Appendix may also include the following codes

Aiding, abetting, counselling or procuring:
Offences as coded above, but with 0 changed to 2 (e.g. CU10 becomes CU12)

Causing or permitting:
Offences as coded above, but with 0 changed to 4 (e.g. CU10 becomes CU14)

Inciting:
Offences as coded above, but with 0 changed to 6 (e.g. CU10 becomes CU16)

Page 49 OFFICIAL



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda ltem 4

CHESTERFIELD
[JB BOROUGH COUNCIL

TAXI CONSULTATIVE
COMMITTEE

ANNUAL REPORT

2017/18

Page 51



1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

2.1

Taxi Consultative Committee
Chesterfield Borough Council

Annual Report 2017/18

Background

The Taxi Consultative Committee was established in
March 2011 as an informal consultative body for the
Council and the taxi trade locally in Chesterfield.

The purpose of the Committee is to meet with local
representatives of the taxi trade to discuss matters of
mutual concern and interest relating to the licensing of
vehicles, drivers and operators.

The Committee’s aim is to act as a representative body for
the whole hackney carriage and private hire trade,
ensuring consultation with all licence holders to enable
the Council to make fully informed decisions, through the
delegated authority granted to the Appeals and
Regulatory Committee or appropriate Council officers.

The Committee’s terms of reference are included in the
Council's Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing
Policy. These terms of reference were most recently
reviewed and updated in May, 2017.

Membership and Meetings
The Committee meets at least four times per year. During
2017/18 it met a total of five times - the nominations

meeting in June, 2017, and then regular meetings in July
and October, 2017 and January and April, 2018.

Page 52



2.2

2.3

2.4

The Committee is composed of nine members - three
hackney carriage licence holders (persons who drive or
own a hackney carriage), three private hire licence holders
(persons who operate or drive or own a private hire
vehicle) and three elected members of the Council
(selected in accordance with the political balance of the
Council).

For 2017/18 the three elected members were:

Councillor Caulfield (Chair)
Councillor Burrows (Vice-Chair)
Councillor V Diouf

the three hackney carriage licence holders were:

Mr S Atkin
Mr C Brown
Ms M Shaw

and the private hire licence holders were:

Mr S Aldersley (until January, 2018)
Mr J Brookbank (from April, 2018)
Ms A Dickens

Mr D Madin

Following the review of the nominations process by the
Committee in April, 2017 and the subsequent approval of
the revised terms of reference by the Appeals and
Regulatory Committee in May, 2017, the appointment of
the above hackney carriage and private hire licence
holders in June, 2017 was made for a two year period.

Page 53



2.5

2.6

2.7

3.1

3.2

In January, 2018 Mr S Aldersley resigned as a
representative of private hire licence holders, and,
following invitation of nominations for a replacement
representative, Mr ] Brookbank was appointed in April,
2018 until May, 2019.

In addition to the above nine members of the Committee,
officers from the Council's Licensing and Legal sections
and from the Police and Derbyshire County Council
Highways department are invited to attend the
Committee to advise the Committee members.

Attendance at meetings during 2017/18 has been good
with average attendance as follows:

Elected members - 2.25 members per meeting
Hackney carriage representatives - 2.75 per meeting
Private hire representatives - 2.75 per meeting

Issues Considered

At each of its meetings the Committee considers the
reported crime figures relating to the taxi trade in the
Chesterfield and the Bolsover and North East Derbyshire
policing sections, along with any other Police related
matters, issues relating to Derbyshire County Council
Highways and actions taken by the Licensing team since
the previous meeting.

The taxi related crime figures varied between 23 and 39 in
the four quarters of the year, with an average of 30 per
quarter. The most common type of crime was passengers
making off without payment.

Page 54



3.3

3.4

3.5

The main Highways issue throughout the year has been
the development of the proposal for the use of bus lanes
in Chesterfield by hackney carriages, initially on an 18
months experimental period.

The Licensing team reported on the number of licences
suspended or revoked and the number of vehicles which
had failed the vehicle test in each quarter. It also reported
on the test purchase operation carried out in September,
2017 to identify any private hire vehicles plying for hire,
when no offences had been detected.

In addition to these standard items, the Committee has
also considered the following issues during 2017/18:

e Discussion with a major private hire operator on
matters of common concern;

e Concerns relating to the issuing of vehicle licences and
plates at the Eckington test station following the
introduction of a new contract there in May, 2017,

e The availability of appointments for applicants to
undertake the knowledge test and the introduction of
an electronic system of knowledge tests to improve
availability and consistency;

e A proposal from the hackney carriage representatives
to increase the hackney carriage tariff;

e Discussion with the Council's Health and Wellbeing
Officer and the Dementia Friendly Communities Co-
ordinator of the Alzheimer’s Society on issues related
to dementia and opportunities for operators and
drivers to become more dementia friendly;

e Adraft revised version of the Licensing Policy which
aimed to make the policy document easier to
understand;

e An update on the town centre developments at the
Northern Gateway;

Page 55



4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

e Concerns regarding revised arrangements at
Chesterfield Railway Station for buses and limited
space for taxis dropping off passengers.

The Committee’s Main Achievements / Outcomes

Information being made available for customers about
how complaints could be submitted.

Greater availability of test appointments for applicants
and the introduction of an electronic system of knowledge
tests to speed up the process of applying for a licence.

Approval by the Appeals and Regulatory Committee in
November, 2017 of the proposal to increase the hackney
carriage tariff.

Information made available to operators about dementia
friendly initiatives and opportunities. Approval by the
Appeals and Regulatory Committee in February, 2018 of
an exemption within the Licensing Policy for the display of
dementia friendly signs where drivers had completed the
appropriate awareness training.

Approval by the Appeals and Regulatory Committee in
April, 2018 of the revised Licensing Policy, resulting in the
document being easier to understand.

Extended hours during which licence plates could be
issued at the Eckington test station.

Development of a proposal to introduce an 18 months

experimental period for the use of bus lanes in
Chesterfield town centre by hackney carriages.

Page 56



5.1

5.2

5.3

Conclusion

The Committee has continued to provide a forum for the
consideration of matters of mutual concern relating to the
hackney carriage and private hire trade locally, with input
from the Council's Licensing team, the Police and the
County Council Highways team.

The role of trade representatives in raising concerns,
considering issues and communicating with other
members of the trade more widely is a positive and
valued contribution.

The Committee aims to continue to operate as an
informal consultative body in the year ahead to enable
relevant matters to be considered and to inform the
practical application of licensing procedures and decisions
to be taken by officers or formal decision making bodies.

Councillor Kate Caulfield
Chair, Taxi Consultative Committee
Chesterfield Borough Council

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	3 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy - Policy Amendments (A000)
	Appendix 1 for Policy amendments
	Appendix 2 for Policy amendments

	4 Taxi Consultative Committee Annual Report 2017/18

